1993

# Mark Erickson v. Ronald K. Platts, dba E-Z Street Auto : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

The defendant appeals from a final Judgment and Order entered on April 1, 1993. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 3(a), U.R.A.P. The plaintiff alleged fraud in connection with the mileage disclosure on a used car transaction. The defendant counterclaimed for the unpaid balance due under the contract.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Did the Trial Court correctly construe the provisions of 15 U.S.C. 1988 (federal odometer statute) in finding fraud where dealer disclosure form provided notice to buyer that the actual mileage was unknown rather than disclosing odometer reading in excess of mechanical limits?

The Trial Court's interpretation of the statute poses a question of law reviewable for correctness State v. Warner, 788 P. 2d 1041 (Utah Ct. App. 1990).

2. Did the Lower Court erroneously fail to require proof of fraud and misrepresentation by clear and convincing evidence?

The essential elements of Fraudulent Misrepresentation must be established by clear and convincing evidence. Shuhman v. Green River Motel, 192 Utah Adv. Rep. 29 \_\_\_\_P 2d\_\_\_\_ (Utah Ct. App. 1992); Pace v. Parrish, 122 Utah 141, 247 P 2d 273 (1952).

The Trial Court erroneously awarded rescission where the plaintiff had failed to make an election to rescind or sue for damages. See Election: Rescission or Damages, 40 A.L.R. 4th, 627.

#### CONSTITUTIONAL STATUTES, PROVISIONS, AND RULES

Any relevant text or Constitutional, Statutory, or rule provisions pertinent to the resolution of the issues presented on appeal is contained in the body of this brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff filed this action January 10, 1990, alleging fraud in connection with the purchase of a 1980 Volkswagen Camper Van from defendant, a licensed used car dealer (R.1-7). On January 18, 1990, defendant filed a Verified Answer denying the allegation of fraud, and seeking damages for breach of the contract of sale and for the balance due the defendant because the plaintiff had stopped payment on the credit cards he used to purchase the vehicle. (R. 8-18).

The case was tried to the Court commencing September 29, 1992. Judge Griffiths rendered a Memorandum Decision November 24, 1992 (R. 85-88). Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law and an Order were signed on February 1, 1993 (R.92-98) (R. 99-100). Plaintiff was awarded a judgment for \$1,212.80 plus interest, Court costs of \$104.00 and attorney fees of \$1500.00.

Defendant filed a Motion to Alter and Amend the Judgment, or for a New Trial. The Motion was argued to the Court, and denied in an Order dated April 1, 1993. It is from the adverse Judgment and Order that the defendant filed this appeal on April 16, 1993. Defendant seeks a reversal of the Order of the lower Court, or, in the alternative, for a new trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

In this action, the Court was called upon to construe the mileage disclosure requirements as they apply to an odometer which has "turned over" after registering 100,000 miles. The testimony presented at the trial was convoluted and each party challenged the other's accuracy as to what occurred. Upon consideration of all the evidence, the Court found for the plaintiff. A copy of the Court's Memorandum Decision is included in the addendum.

In September, 1989, E-Z Street Auto Sales offered a 1980 Volkswagen Camper Van for sale. The record is not clear when defendant acquired this vehicle for sale, but the facts establish that defendant had it inspected on January 25, 1989. The inspection certificate indicates that the owner is E-Z Auto Sales and the mileage was 46,811 miles. An affidavit filed with the Motor Vehicle Department of the State of Utah by the previous owners, Steven P. and Robyn Duncan, conveying the vehicle to defendant, indicates that the actual mileage was 146,811 miles.

On September 26, 1989, the plaintiff, Mark Erickson, purchased the Camper Van from the defendant. Approximately one week prior to the sale date, plaintiff had test-driven the vehicle. Paul Lives,

a salesman for defendant, accompanied plaintiff on the test-drive. Plaintiff stopped at his father-in-law's home which is only a short distance from defendant's lot. Plaintiff's wife and father-in-law inspected the vehicle. At this time, the odometer showed the mileage to be around 48,800 miles. Even though the vehicle was relatively old, with the low mileage shown on the odometer and the condition of the body, the three felt that it was in good mechanical condition.

Plaintiff and Mr. Lives discussed the mileage as shown on the odometer. Plaintiff remembers that Mr. Lives said the miles shown were the actual miles. Mr. Lives remembers the conversation differently. He testified that he told plaintiff to have the vehicle checked by a mechanic since there was no way to determine the actual mileage on a car that old. During the week plaintiff talked on the phone with Ronald Memmott, the manager of defendant. The two mostly talked about the sale price of the vehicle.

On the date of the sale Mr. Memmott handled the negotiations for defendant. Both Federal and State law require that the seller state the mileage of the vehicle upon transfer of ownership. The Odometer Disclosure Statement is the document that conveys this information. Mr. Memmott prepared all of the necessary documents of sale. On the Purchase Agreement, on the line asking for the odometer reading, Mr. Memmott wrote 48,831. The Odometer Disclosure Statement, as completed by Mr. Memmott, states that "the odometer now reads 48,831 (no tenths) miles and to the best of my

knowledge that it reflects the actual mileage of the vehicle...unless one of the following statements is checked:

(1) I hereby certify that to the best of my knowledge the odometer reading reflects the amount of mileage in excess of its mechanical limits.

(2) I hereby certify that the odometer reading is NOT the actual mileage. WARNING--ODOMETER DISCREPANCY.

Mr. Memmott checked statement (2). Mr. Memmott denies that he misrepresented the mileage of the vehicle to plaintiff, even though he knew that the actual mileage was not 48,831 miles. When statement (2) was checked, people were put on notice that there was an odometer discrepancy. Both plaintiff and his wife testified that Mr. Memmott told them that the 48,831 miles, as shown on the odometer, was the actual miles of the vehicle.

Plaintiff alleged that he had expended money for repairs on his vehicle, and rental of a truck to tow the vehicle back from Nevada after it had broken down a week after the purchase. The Trial Court accepted these items in arriving at damages, in addition to allowing a rescission of the contract. (R. 86).

Defendant's evidence was that no fraud had occurred and that no misrepresentation of material fact was made to plaintiffs concerning the mileage. Defendant's exhibits included the Vehicle Buyer's Order and Purchase Agreement (R. 57), the Motor Vehicle sold As Is without any warranty form, signed by plaintiff, (R. 59), Odometer Statement from Robyn Duncan, showing mileage unknown (R. 60), the Odometer Statement signed by plaintiff, indicating mileage

unknown, (R. 62), documents evidencing the stop payment by plaintiff on his credit card (R. 64), and documents prepared in connection with the repossession for the vehicle, several months after the transaction(R. 52-55).

The evidence was conflicting as to whether the defendant's salesmen had told the plaintiff that the mileage was 100,000 less than actual. The vehicle had an odometer that only recorded mileage to 99,999 miles. The usual practice in Utah is to fill in the blank for odometer reading exactly as shown by the odometer itself. Further, the practice is to execute the federal disclosure form to conform with the information acquired from the prior owner, which, in this case was, mileage unknown. Thus, the disclosure form will indicate either actual miles, or actual miles in excess of mechanical capacity of the odometer (odometer rollover), or the fact of an odometer discrepancy (mileage unknown--odometer discrepancy). In this case the plaintiff was provided the federal odometer disclosure form, with box 2 marked mileage unknown, and he signed the Odometer Disclosure form indicating that he had received a copy of the form and that the disclosures were made thereon.

Defendant's evidence contained documents signed by plaintiff wherein it was specifically set forth that the plaintiff had purchased the vehicle "as is," and that there were no warranties express or implied. The usual practice is that when an automobile is purchased, that the new owner thereafter becomes responsible for its maintenance and repair. Prior to the purchase the plaintiff had the vehicle inspected by his father-in-law, who was an

experienced volkswagen mechanic. The plaintiff had every opportunity to check out the mechanical condition of the vehicle prior to the purchase. Even after the vehicle had broken down in Nevada, plaintiff had taken the vehicle to his father-in-law, who was in the process of overhauling the motor. The motor was in a state of disassembly at the time when it was repossessed by defendant, after the parties were unable to agree on a settlement.

The defendant and his salesmen denied any false or misleading statements regarding mileage, and presented documents which conform to the requirements of the odometer disclosure statute. The defense evidence was that no representation was made by anyone to the plaintiff, orally or in writing, that would lead him to believe that the vehicle had 48,000 actual miles. They affirmatively indicated that the odometer disclosure form specifically put plaintiff on notice that the miles were not actual. Further, the vehicle was nearly 10 years old, and defendant's position was that no reasonable person, not even this plaintiff, would have reasonably relied on the mileage on the odometer as being actual.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

##### **Argument I**

**THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSTRUED THE PROVISIONS OF 15 U.S.C. SEC. 1981-1991 (FEDERAL ODOMETER STATUTE) IN FINDING FOR PLAINTIFF WHERE DEFENDANT HAD COMPLIED WITH THE STATUTORY DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS AND THE PLAINTIFF WAS ADVISED THAT THE MILEAGE WAS UNKNOWN.**

The Trial Court erroneously construed the provisions of 15 U.S.C. Sec. 1981-1991 (Federal Odometer Statute). The Trial judge erred in applying the federal odometer statute to this case. The

Court's conclusion that defendant salesman should have checked box 1 and not box 2 is an incorrect interpretation of the statute. The defendant complied fully with the federal odometer statute, and was required to show mileage unknown. The error of the lower court requires reversal of the case.

#### **Argument II**

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A JUDGMENT TO PLAINTIFF IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF OF FRAUD AND MISREPRESENTATION BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The Court erred in failing to require proof by clear and convincing evidence of plaintiff's common law claims under state law. The plaintiff had never filed any pleadings claiming relief pursuant to the federal odometer statute. The judgment for rescission and damages are not supported by competent admissible evidence. The Court erred in not requiring clear and convincing evidence standard, which requires reversal of the case.

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY CONSTRUED THE PROVISIONS OF 15 U.S.C. SEC. 1981-1991 (FEDERAL ODOMETER STATUTE) IN FINDING FOR PLAINTIFF WHERE DEFENDANT HAD COMPLIED WITH THE STATUTORY DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS AND THE PLAINTIFF WAS ADVISED THAT THE MILEAGE WAS UNKNOWN.

Defendant fully complied with the requirements of the odometer statute by delivering to the plaintiff a completed Odometer Mileage Statement accurately stating that the actual mileage was unknown as of the date of the transaction. The plaintiff signed the form, indicating that he had received the disclosure, and that there was an odometer discrepancy.

In Francesconi v. Kardon Chevrolet, Inc., 888 F.2d 18 (3rd Cir. 1989) the Court of Appeals held that a car salesman's inaccurate oral representations as to number of miles traveled were not actionable under the odometer act where the written disclosure form accurately reports the correct number of miles, and where the disclosure form is presented to the transferee at the time of the mileage, if known. (at p. 20)

In the instant case, the Court erred in concluding that the defendant's salesman had misled the plaintiff by indicating in writing that the odometer was not to be relied upon, and that he should have informed the plaintiff that the mileage was in excess of 100,000 miles. Here, the vehicle had been taken in from the prior owner with the statement "mileage unknown". The salesman therefore, honestly could not state that the mileage was actual, subject to having exceeded the mechanical limits of the odometer instrument, and accordingly disclosed the mileage as "unknown."

The principal objective of the federal odometer statute is the detect "rollbacks" of odometers. The statute provides for statutory "actual damages" for an odometer roll-back violation as the difference between the amount paid for the car and its fair and its fair market value at the time of sale. In Beachy v. Eagle Motors, Inc., 637 F. Supp. 1093 (N.D. Ind. 1986) the Court held that the buyers are not entitled to recover as actual damages repairs which were not shown to have been occasioned by alleged misrepresentations inherent in a rollback. Thus, the Lower Court

was in error in using this statute to rule that the plaintiff was entitled to rescission and damages, plus attorney fees.

Plaintiff presented no evidence to establish that the actual fair market price for the vehicle would have been any different than the actual purchase price. The amount he spent to rent a large truck was not a direct consequence of an odometer disclosure violation. The repairs he made were relatively minor, and were of the type to be included within the usual meaning of an "as-is" purchase. The ultimate failure of the motor in the desert of Nevada was more likely due to the neglect and abuse of the vehicle by the plaintiff, than from any odometer disclosure violation.

The prevailing federal case is that if a transferor of a vehicle has actual or constructive knowledge that the odometer reading is incorrect, he has a duty to disclose that the actual mileage is unknown. Nieto v. Pence, 578 F.2d 640 (5th Cir. 1978). That Court construed the concept of a "knowing" violation, and concluded that the dealer has an affirmative duty to mark the "true mileage unknown" where he would have reason to know the mileage was more than recorded by the odometer or based upon the statement of the prior owner.

That rule was followed in Utah in Charnetsky v. Gus Paulos Chevrolet, Inc., 754 F. Supp. 188 (D. Utah, 1991), with the Court quoting with approval from the Nieto, supra, case. See also Jones v. Fenton Ford, Inc., 427 F. Supp. 1328 (1977); Duval v. Midwest Auto City, Inc., 578 F. 2d 721 (1978). These cases establish that the ultimate disclosure is the mileage unknown disclosure, and that

by making this disclosure according to the statute, the buyer thereby put on notice that the odometer is not to be relied upon. See Auto Sport Motors, v. Bruno Auto Dealers, 721 F. Supp. 63 (S.D.N.Y., 1989)

The defendant provided the plaintiff in this case full legal notice pursuant to the federal odometer statute. The defendants did not claim that the miles were actual. The evidence was disputed as to whether the plaintiff was informed that the odometer had rolled over. However, this is irrelevant in light of the more inclusive disclosure that the miles were unknown. Judge Griffiths erroneously concluded that the law required this defendant to check box 1, mileage in excess of mechanical limits.

#### ARGUMENT II

THAT THE COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A JUDGMENT FOR RESCISSION AND DAMAGES ON PLAINTIFF'S COMMON LAW FRAUD AND MISREPRESENTATION CLAIMS IN THE ABSENCE OF PROOF BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE.

The plaintiff failed to prove his case by clear and convincing evidence. In Shubman v. Green River Motel 192 Utah Adv. Rep. 29, \_\_\_P. 2d \_\_\_, (Utah Ct.App. 1992), this Court, citing Pace v. Parrish, 122 Utah 144, 247 P 2d 273 (1952) reaffirmed that the elements of fraudulent misrepresentation are:

- (1) that a misrepresentation was made;
- (2) concerning a presently existing material fact;
- (3) which was false;
- (4) which the representor either
  - (a) knew to be false, or
  - (b) made recklessly, knowing he had insufficient knowledge upon which to base such representation;
- (5) for the purpose of inducing the other party to act upon it;
- (6) that the other party, acting reasonably and in ignorance of its falsity;
- (7) did in fact rely upon it;

(8) and was thereby induced to act;  
(9) to his injury and damage, Accord Wright v. Westside Nursery, 787 P 2d 508 (Utah App. 1990).

In Deboy v. Valley Mortgage Co., 192 Utah Adv. Rep. 35, \_\_\_P. 2d\_\_\_ (Utah Ct. App 1992) at p. 39, the Court considered claims of fraud and misrepresentation, and in particular, whether there was a "fraud by concealment." Fraud, "comprises all acts, omissions and concealments involving a breach of legal or equitable duty and resulting damage to another." Schwartz v. Tanner, 576 P 2d 873 (Utah, 1978).

The question of "whether a duty to speak exists is determinable by reference to all the circumstances of the case." Elder v. Clawson, 14 Utah 2d 379, 384 P 2d 802 (1963). A duty to speak will not be found where the parties deal at arm's length, and where the underlying facts are reasonably within the knowledge of both parties. Under such circumstances, the plaintiff is obliged to take reasonable steps to inform himself, and to protect his own interests. Sugarhouse Fin. v. Anderson, 610 P 2d 1369 (Utah 1980) 23 Am Jur 856, Fraud and Deceit, IV Concealment, Sec. 78.

In Atkinson v. IHC Hospitals, Inc., 138 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 \_\_\_P. 2d\_\_\_ (Utah Sup. Ct. 1990) the Supreme Court found no fraud in the settlement of a personal injury case where the plaintiffs had been fully informed of the medical facts. Neither did it find negligent misrepresentation. See Restatement (Second) of Torts, Sec. 552 (1977).

In the instant case, the Trial Court specifically did not find that the defendant had misrepresented the miles as actual, but that

he had a duty to disclose the fact that the mileage was in excess of the mechanical limits. But where the disclosure further advised plaintiff that mileage was unknown, the plaintiff was not misled by the mileage of the vehicle. Therefore, there was no duty to disclose in any event.

The law is clear that to recover in fraud, a plaintiff must establish the element of reliance which is justifiable under the circumstances. In Cender v. A.L. Williams & Associates, 739 P. 2d 634 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) @ p. 638, the Court discusses the public policy considerations, and cites Prosser and Keeton, The Law of Torts, Sec. 108, at 749-50 (5th Ed. 1984):

If plaintiff can claim reliance on the basis of the kind of statement on which no reasonable person would rely for one reason or another, then it is quite likely that plaintiff did not rely and if his testimony that he did is allowed as sufficient evidence on the basis of which a finder of fact can find reliance, then it will be too easy for a party to a contract to escape the consequences of his own bad judgment in making a bargain of some kind.

Further, the plaintiff failed to mitigate his damages.

A plaintiff is not entitled to recover damages for any harm he could have reasonably avoided by the use of reasonable effort after the commission of a tort. See Cender, supra, at p. 634 and cases cited therein. Any delay on the part of the defrauded party may constitute a waiver of the right to rescind the contract. Dugan v. Jones, 615 P 2d 1239 (Utah, 1980); Mecham v. Benson, 590 P 2d 304 (Utah, 1979)


The Trial Court erroneously allowed plaintiff to rescind the contract, notwithstanding the fact that between August and December he had failed to deliver the vehicle back to the dealer. He had concealed it with his father-in-law. Even though he failed to pay, he kept the vehicle concealed from the dealer. When the van was repossessed for nonpayment, the dealer found that the motor had been completely disassembled. These actions constitute unreasonably delay, and are inconsistent with seeking the remedy of rescission.

Further, the out of pocket damages claimed by plaintiff were not of the type that would arise from any alleged misrepresentation as to the mileage of the machine. Plaintiff believed that it was in good mechanical condition when he bought it. There was no evidence that the purchase price was not the actual fair market value for a van of that vintage. The mechanical failure was caused by the actions of the plaintiff, not through any misrepresentation on the part of the dealer.

#### CONCLUSION

The judgment of the Trial Court is in error and should be reversed, or a new trial ordered.