1993

Mark Erickson v. Ronald K. Platts, E-Z Street Auto : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it did not grant Erickson three times the amount of his actual damages, as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1989(a). However, the trial court did not commit any error in judging that E-Z Street violated 15 U.S.C. § 1988, or in rescinding the purchase agreement for the vehicle.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING ERICKSON'S CLAIM FOR TREBLE DAMAGES PURSUANT TO 15 U.S.C. § 1989 (FEDERAL ODOMETER FRAUD STATUTE).

Erickson is entitled to treble damages under 15 U.S.C. § 1989, and the trial court erred in not awarding such damages. Section

1989 states:

(a) Any person who, with intent to defraud, violates any requirement imposed under this subchapter shall be liable in an amount equal to the sum of -

(1) three times the amount of actual damages sustained or \$1,500.00 whichever is the greater; and

(2) in the case of any successful action to enforce the foregoing liability, the costs of the action together with reasonable attorney fees as determined by the court.

15 U.S.C. § 1989. The language of this section is couched in mandatory terms: Any person who has violated any requirement of subchapter IV--the odometer disclosure requirements--(15 U.S.C. §§ 1981-91) shall be liable in the amount of three times the amount of actual damages or \$1,500, whichever is greater.² The trial court only awarded Erickson \$1,212.80 in damages. This is less than the statutory minimum amount of \$1,500. Furthermore, three times the amount of Erickson's actual damages would be \$3,638.40 (\$1,212.80 time three). The plain language of 15 U.S.C. § 1989 requires that the court award Erickson the greater of \$1,500 or \$3,638.40. Erickson respectfully submits that the trial court erred, as a matter of law, in awarding less than the statute mandates on its own plain terms.

Accordingly, Erickson respectfully moves this Court to remand this case to the trial court with an Order stating that the amount of damages awarded to Erickson shall be entered as \$3,638.40.

² The statute also provides for reasonable attorney's fees to a party who is successful in enforcing liability under the subchapter, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1981-91.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY CONSTRUED 15 U.S.C. § 1988 TO ENTER JUDGMENT AGAINST E-Z STREET FOR PURPOSEFULLY PROFESSING IGNORANCE REGARDING THE EXACT MILEAGE OF THE VEHICLE.

The trial court correctly applied the law regarding violations of 15 U.S.C. § 1988 in the present case. Section 1988(a)(1) requires that any transferor "give the following written disclosure to the transferee in connection with the transfer of ownership of a motor vehicle: (1) Disclosure of the cumulative mileage registered on the odometer." Furthermore, § 1988(b) states: "No transferor shall violate any rule prescribed under this section or give a false statement to a transferee in making any disclosure required by such rule." 15 U.S.C. § 1988(b). In interpreting the requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1988, the trial court relied on Ryan v. Edwards, 592 F.2d 756 (4th Cir. 1979), and Haynes v. Manning, 917 F.2d 450 (10th Cir. 1990). In Haynes, the Tenth Circuit cited Ryan approvingly. E-Z Street's claim that the trial court erred in applying 15 U.S.C. § 1988 is thus meritless.

In Ryan, the Fourth Circuit held that a transferor may certify the mileage of a vehicle as unknown (i.e., check the box that E-Z Street checked) only when he believes that for a reason other than the odometer has "rolled over" the mileage is inaccurate. 592 F.2d at 760-61. In Ryan, the defendant auto dealership had in its files information that indicated that the vehicle at issue had over 100,000 miles on it. Nevertheless, when the defendant sold the automobile, it did not state this on the odometer disclosure statement. Rather, the dealership merely marked the second box on

the form that states that the true mileage is unknown. Id. at 759.

In addressing the requirements of 15 U.S.C. § 1988(a) and (b), the Fourth Circuit held that a transferor has a legal duty to use reasonable care to determine the exact amount of miles traveled by the vehicle. Id. at 760-61. Specifically, the court held that the defendant did not comply with the requirements of § 1988 by simply recording the mileage that the odometer stated. Id. at 761. The Court wrote:

When a transferor who knows that an odometer has "turned over" merely records the numbers appearing on the odometer and certifies that the true mileage is unknown, the consumer is not simply deprived of accurate mileage information; he is actually misled by the form itself. We cannot believe that Congress intended to enact a statute requiring that consumers be given false or misleading information.

We hold that when a transferor knows that a vehicle's odometer has "turned over" after registering 99,999 miles, the "cumulative mileage" which must be stated to satisfy the requirements of § 1988(a)(1) is the total of 100,000 plus the number actually appearing on the odometer. A transferor may certify the mileage as "unknown", § 1988(a)(2), only when he believes that, for some other reason, the odometer reading is inaccurate.

Id. at 760-61 (emphasis added). The Court further explained the level of certainty a car dealer must possess regarding whether an odometer has "rolled over": "The knowledge of the 'turn over' which the transferor must have is not the absolute certitude assumed by the district court. If, in the exercise of reasonable care, he would have had reason to know that the odometer had 'turned over', he must disclose this fact on the odometer mileage statement." Id. at 761 n.5 (citing Nieto v. Pence, 578 F.2d 640 (5th Cir. 1978) and Senate Report No. 92-413, Reprinted in 1972 U.S.Code Cong. & Admin.News pp. 3960, 3971).

The Tenth Circuit agreed with the reasoning of Ryan in its opinion in Haynes v. Manning, 917 F.2d 450 (10th Cir. 1990). In that case, the court stated if a defendant sold a vehicle with reckless disregard to the actual miles the vehicle had traveled, that such actions violated 15 U.S.C. § 1988. Id. at 452-53 (citing Ryan v. Edwards, 592 F.2d 756, 762 (4th Cir. 1979)).

In the present case, the trial court specifically held that E-Z Street had disregarded its duty to ascertain, with reasonable care, the correct odometer reading of the vehicle. The court stated:

4. There is a conflict in the evidence as to whether Defendant's salesman and manager told Plaintiff that the Vehicle's mileage was 100,000 miles less than the actual mileage. However, the court concludes that from January, 1989, Defendant's agents knew or should have known that the odometer had "turned over" and that the actual mileage was 100,000 miles more than as shown on the odometer.

5. This information was not given to the plaintiff. Mr. Memmott should have checked statement (1), and written the actual mileage on the Odometer Disclosure Statement and the Purchase Agreement.

[W]hen a transferor knows that a vehicle's odometer has "turned over" after registering 99,999 miles, the "cumulative mileage" which must be stated to satisfy the requirements of (the Act) is the total of 100,000 plus the number actually appearing on the odometer." Ryan v. Edwards, 592 P.2d 760.

6. What the agents did do was to profess ignorance as to the actual mileage. Such conduct mislead the plaintiff and constitutes reckless disregard for the truth if not actual intent to defraud.

7. The court concludes that Defendant, through the actions of its agents, committed fraud on the plaintiff.

(R. 97-98).

The holding of the trial thus correctly stated that E-Z Street

committed fraud by purposefully not exercising reasonable care to learn the exact mileage of the vehicle. This violation was all the more egregious when it came to light that E-Z Street had signed a document that stated the actual miles of the vehicle (R. 74, in the envelop containing the exhibits; see Appendix II of this Brief).

Even the lead case E-Z Street cites in support of its position, Nieto v. Pence, 578 F.2d 640 (5th Cir. 1978), accords with the holding of the Ryan case. In Nieto, the Fifth Circuit stated:

We hold that a transferor who lacked actual knowledge may still be found to have intended to defraud and thus may be civilly liable for a failure to disclose that a vehicle's actual mileage is unknown. A transferor may not close his eyes to the truth. If a transferor reasonably should have known that a vehicle's odometer reading was incorrect, although he did not know to a certainty the transferee would be defrauded, a court may infer that he understood the risk of such an occurrence.

Id. at 642 (emphasis added).

Accordingly, Erickson respectfully asks this Court to affirm the trial court's judgment that E-Z Street violated 15 U.S.C. § 1988.

POINT III.

E-Z STREET'S ARGUMENT THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT REQUIRING PROOF OF FRAUD BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE BEFORE GRANTING RESCISSION OF THE PURCHASE AGREEMENT IS WITHOUT MERIT.

The trial court's decision to grant rescission of the purchase agreement of the vehicle should be sustained on three grounds. First, the trial court ruled that E-Z Street had defrauded Erickson, and the evidence is clear and convincing that E-Z Street had signed a document that stated the actual miles of the vehicle

to be 146,811 as of March 2, 1989. See Appendix II. Therefore, the trial court's decision is consistent with Pace v. Parrish, 247 P.2d 273 (Utah 1952). Second, E-Z Street did not provide a record to this court to review. Without such a record, this Court will presume that the evidence below supported the trial court's actions. Intermountain Power Agency v. Bowers-Irons Recreation Land & Cattle Co., 786 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah App. 1990). Third, on the grounds of unilateral mistake, the trial court, in equity, could grant the rescission.

Regarding the first argument, the trial specifically stated that it found that E-Z Street's actions defrauded Erickson (R. 97-98). The court stated that E-Z Street's actions "constituted reckless disregard for the truth if not actual intent to defraud" (R. 97, emphasis added). Without even making recourse to the oral evidence offered at trial, Erickson introduced a document that demonstrated that the actual miles on the vehicle were 146,811. This document was signed by an agent of E-Z Street.

Regarding the nine elements of fraud, as explained in Pace, each element was met by clear and convincing evidence in this case. First, E-Z Street misrepresented the mileage of the vehicle. Second, Erickson testified that the mileage was a material fact in considering whether to buy to the car. Moreover, 15 U.S.C. § 1981 and State v. Forshee, 588 P.2d 181, 183 (Utah 1978) (holding that mileage on an odometer is likely to affect the judgment of the buyer and has a pecuniary significance) both hold that the mileage of a vehicle is material to its purchase. Third, the statement

that the exact mileage was unknown was false. Fourth, E-Z Street either made the statement with reckless disregard for the truth, or actively intended to defraud Erickson. Fifth, the purpose for making the statements were to induce Erickson to buy the vehicle.

Sixth, Erickson reasonable relied on such representation. He took the vehicle to his father-in-law, but without disassembling the engine, there was no way to know the approximate mileage of the car. The trial court even stated that "Even though the vehicle was relatively old, with low mileage shown on the odometer and the condition of the body, the three felt that it was in good mechanical condition" (R. 85, emphasis added). Seventh, Erickson did buy the car in reliance on the representation of the mileage. Eighth, Erickson was induced to take this action because of the representation. And ninth, Erickson was damaged in the value of the vehicle he received and the damages he suffered when the vehicle broke down. All the elements of fraud have been met by clear and convincing evidence.

A second ground why the trial court's remedy of rescission should be affirmed is that E-Z Street has not produced a record of the proceedings in this matter and is therefore barred from bringing arguments regarding the Court's findings and conclusions. Utah R. App. P. 11(e)(2) states:

Transcript required of all evidence regarding challenged findings or conclusion. If the appellant intends to urge on appeal that a finding or conclusion is unsupported by or is contrary to the evidence, the appellant shall include in the record a transcript of all evidence relevant to such finding or conclusion.

In Intermountain Power Agency v. Bowers-Irons Recreation Land &

Cattle Co., 786 P.2d 250, 252 (Utah App. 1990), this Court stated that without a record on appeal, this Court can only presume that the judgment was supported by sufficient evidence. Erickson urges this Court to follow this presumption in the present case, to decline to reach E-Z Street's argument, and to affirm the trial court's order of rescission of the purchase agreement.